
Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 1 of 12 

MINUTES REPORT 

LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY 

August 26, 2013 

 

 MEMBERS PRESENT:      

Noel Andress      Mitch Hutchcraft 

Steve Brodkin      Ann Pierce (Vice Chair) 

Wayne Daltry      Roger Strelow 

Jim Green (Chair) 

 

 STAFF PRESENT: 

 Donna Marie Collins, Chief Asst. Cty. Atty.  Matt Noble, Planning    

 Janet Miller, Recording Secretary   Paul O’Connor, Planning Director   

    

Agenda Item 1 – Call to Order, Certificate of Affidavit of Publication 

 

Mr. Green, Chair, called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. in the Board Chambers of the Old Lee County 

Courthouse, 2120 Main Street, Fort Myers, FL 33901. 

 

Ms. Collins, Assistant County Attorney, certified the affidavit of publication and stated it was legally 

sufficient as to form and content. 

 

Agenda Item 2 - Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Agenda Item 3 – Public Forum - None 

 

Mr. Green announced that approval of the May 20, 2013, June 24, 2013, and July 22, 2013 meeting 

minutes would be deferred to the end of the meeting. 

 

Agenda Item 5 – 2013 Regular Lee Plan Amendment Cycle 

 

A. CPA2012-00001 – River Hall Amendment 

 

Mr. Noble gave a brief overview of the staff report and recommendations. 

 

The applicant reviewed their project with a PowerPoint presentation (attached), which was presented by 

Russell Schropp (Henderson Franklin Law Firm), Grady Miars (Greenpoint), Dave Depew (Morris 

Depew and Associates), and Steve Leung from David Plummer and Associates (Transportation 

Consultant). 

 

During Mr. Depew’s portion of the presentation, various questions were posed by the Local Planning 

Agency in between the presentation. 

 

Mr. Andress stated that over 100 million dollars had been invested in this project based on the number of 

units already approved.  He did not understand why they needed an additional 1,000 units in order to 

make it economically viable and that he did not see any justification for it in the documentation provided 

to the Local Planning Agency as part of their meeting packet. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 2 of 12 

Mr. Miars stated the justification would be outlined as part of today’s presentation.  He noted that the 

initial 100 million dollars is gone as it was discharged as part of the bankruptcy.  The next incremental 20 

million dollars was used to stabilize the project.  The new owners decided to buy down the CDD and to 

buy the additional lots to be able to preserve the long term purchase of the project.  He felt the intention of 

the project never changed.  It was always set up from an infrastructure and lifestyle perspective to be 

developed in the pattern being presented today. 

 

Mr. Brodkin stated that when the property was purchased in 2010, the owners knew the history as to what 

the market was and the economy.  From his understanding, the property was purchased at a good price.   

When it was purchased, the owners must have believed they could make a profit under the current plan, 

otherwise, they would not have purchased the property.  They also would have been aware that the 

increased density for this site was rejected twice before.  If it was purchased at a good price and it was 

believed it would be a profitable venture, he did not understand the justification for an additional 1,000 

units. 

 

Mr. Miars felt it would be best explained with viewing the rest of the presentation. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked how many acres are not currently owned by River Hall out of the 1978 acres. 

 

Mr. Miars did not have that figure. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if this current project is subjected to or governed by in part Interstate Land Sale 

requirements of the US HUD. 

 

Mr. Miars stated they were. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if other corporations were covered in this physical 1978 acres that are relevant to this 

proposal. 

 

Mr. Schropp stated that Mr. Depew would address the ownership on a particular slide in the presentation.  

There are several corporate entities that own part of the vacant lands that are within River Hall that fall 

under the umbrella of Greenpoint Communities.  There are also the roadways that are controlled by the 

Home Owner Associations and those are included as part of the amendment as well and the CDD which is 

part of today’s presentation.  

 

Mr. Green asked if there are entities that own significant amounts of land within the 1978 acres that 

Greenpoint does not represent. 

 

Mr. Schropp stated the future land use map amendment area is covered by Greenpoint.  There are 

significant areas of land in River Hall that are not part of this plan amendment request, which will be part 

of Mr. Depew’s presentation.  At this point, Mr. Depew continued with his presentation. 

 

When Mr. Depew was discussing infrastructure, Mr. Daltry asked if the infrastructure was in place or 

planned to be in place. 

 

Mr. Depew stated the infrastructure was partially there.  It basically goes to where the road ends and is 

sized as if this same development pattern will be continued on the south meaning south of Hampton Lakes 

and south of the Country Club in the same fashion as it was in the beginning.  The utilities infrastructure 

and lift stations have been designed.  The drainage is in place.  There is an irrigation system that can be 

hooked into reuse water.  The road is not currently in place.   



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 3 of 12 

Ms. Pierce asked for clarification on the percentage of residences that are multi-family. 

 

Mr. Depew stated 10% of the approved development units for the zoning are multi-family. 

 

Mr. Miars further clarified that the only multi-family is upfront at the commercial or in River Hall 

Country Club.  Cascades and Hampton Lakes are only single family. 

 

Mr. Depew continued with the presentation. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if there were homes built that were unoccupied. 

 

Mr. Depew stated most of the structures built are occupied.  However, there are a large number of platted 

lots that are not built on and are unoccupied. 

 

Mr. Miars agreed with Mr. Depew’s statement and also noted there were also a few spec homes that are 

built and unoccupied, the balance of which are vacant developed lots.  The spec homes are not a 

significant number. 

 

Mr. Depew continued his presentation. 

 

Mr. Brodkin referred to references of this being “Suburban Infill.”  He noted that land immediately to the 

north of the bulk of the property is Rural and the land to the east is the Preserve.  To him, it seemed to be 

more of an extension of this urban boundary as opposed to an infill project because you only have higher 

densities on two sides and not 3 or 4. 

 

Mr. Depew stated he disagreed with that interpretation because, if you look at the geometry of the 

development itself, it becomes a transition project that goes between the Suburban and Outlying Suburban 

that exists to the west.  More intense Commercial exists to the north and northwest, the preserve area 

exists to the east of the subject property, and the AG property exists directly north.  He pointed to a 

specific region on a map and discussed the surrounding development noting that Lehigh Acres is to the 

south.  Other developments, such as Portico, are on the west of this property.  This property itself has 

already been approved and laid out as a Suburban Golf Course Community.  He did not feel there was 

anything Rural about the property as there is no agriculture, no farming, and no horseback riding.  It is a 

Suburban subdivision similar to Estero or Bonita. 

 

Mr. Brodkin asked if it should be considered a Rural subdivision as a matter of the current land use 

designations and because it is a Rural land use. 

 

Mr. Depew conceded that under the planned designation it is Rural, but he did not feel it met the 

definition of Rural because it is not a development that you would normally anticipate to find in a Rural 

designation.  It is a Suburban development not a Rural development. 

 

Mr. Brodkin stated he disagreed and noted that he had received a lot of letters from residents indicating 

they felt they were sold their property as a Rural Golf Course Development as opposed to a Suburban 

Golf Course Development.  Since two sides of this project is surrounded by development that is not an 

Urban category, he did not see how this could be considered an infill project. 

 

Mr. Depew pointed to the development to the south, west, and north of the property.  He felt this was a 

transition development.  The proposal is about a density and use that transitions from the development 

that is south and west of it to the more Rural activity to the north and the preserve activity to the east. 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 4 of 12 

 

Ms. Pierce stated she did not feel “transition” is the same as “Suburban Infill.”  She noted that “infill” 

typically means lots that are vacant that have been passed over in urbanization. 

 

Mr. Depew stated this development is both and that it would be outlined better when he gets to that 

particular slide in his presentation.  This project consists of approximately 1,900 platted lots that are 

already there.  Those lots will not be replatted.  The Golf Course, road, and drainage layouts are 

completed.  There are approximately 94 lots left for over 300 acres and the lot layouts are such that they 

are all about 130 feet deep.  You end up with either broad areas on the south side of this that will be 

vacant and empty or you will have some weird lots that are wider than they are deep.  He believed the 

County will end up with whole swaths of the south part of this development completely blank and vacant, 

which is why he felt it was “infill.”   This proposal entails utilizing that existing development layout in a 

more efficient fashion to put in the kind of lot and development that are consistent with what is already 

developed throughout that project.  The project was laid out for 2999 units and is developed that way. 

 

Ms. Pierce felt it was cavalier of the developers to lay it out for nearly 3,000 lots when they have only 

been approved for 2,000 and she was still in disagreement of this being considered “infill.” 

 

Mr. Daltry reminded the Board, as a point of order, that we were in the “question mode” not the 

“discussion mode.” 

  

Mr. Andress asked why the developer did not look at another development type such as estate size lots, 

which there will be a demand for in the future and you cannot find that type of development anywhere in 

the Country. 

 

Mr. Depew stated that at this point all the infrastructure is in place on the platted lots and they only have 

94 lots left. 

 

Mr. Andress stated they might want to look into redistributing some of their existing density. 

 

Mr. Depew stated that would mean changing the Golf Course and all the tracts that have been previously 

platted.  It is not their preference to change the existing design.  He referred to Ms. Pierce’s comment 

about the developers being cavalier to design the project for 3,000 lots when they were only approved for 

2,000 lots.  While this statement may be true, the original developers are no longer involved with the 

project.  Although Mr. Miars was involved in the project from the beginning, he now represents a 

different owner, company, and developer. 

 

Mr. Strelow stated that although the property is designated in the Plan as Rural, the layout is distinctly 

Suburban not Rural.  He felt it was a “boot strap” to layout property in a way that does not conform with 

the designated use under the Plan and then say that because it is laid out that way we should be allowed to 

develop it in a way that requires a plan amendment. 

 

Mr. Depew gave the history of how this evolved into what is being presented today. 

 

In regards to Mr. Depew’s explanation, Mr. Strelow felt it was clear that the developer proceeded with a 

proposal that was inconsistent with the Plan based on a hope that eventually, despite earlier denials by the 

Board of County Commissioners, there would be approval of this new proposal. 

 

Mr. Depew stated that was correct.  He continued with his PowerPoint presentation. 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 5 of 12 

Mr. Brodkin asked if the trail that is going to go across the northern part of the property over to the 

Mitigation Park was part of the current plan or if it was something new. 

 

Mr. Depew stated it was new and not part of the current zoning approval. 

 

Mr. Miars stated that Greenpoint owned that property.  He noted there was an FP&L easement on it.  It 

was always the developer’s plan to have a path.  What is new is the connection to Hickeys Creek 

Mitigation Park, the extension further back to the west, as well as a loop that Mr. Depew is referring to.  

The developer is donating it to Lee County so that it becomes more of a complete system instead of just a 

pedestrian access. 

 

Mr. Depew further clarified that in the original plan it was going to be a pedestrian trail.  Currently, it is 

going to be used as a bicycle/pedestrian/multi-use path. 

 

Ms. Pierce referred to comments about connecting the path to Hickeys Creek.  She noted there was a 

canal on the eastern portion and asked if the developer was planning to put a bridge over it. 

 

Mr. Depew stated they would like to do that and were in discussions with Parks and Recreation staff as to 

whether or not this is going to be an access point over there.  Parks and Recreation staff have expressed 

concern over having another control point accessing the Mitigation Park, so this is still being worked out. 

 

Ms. Pierce asked if this multi-use path would be paved and, if so, with what. 

 

Mr. Depew stated it would be paved.  They are currently looking at asphalt, but if there is something else 

that would make more sense, the developer might consider using a different material.  Due to another 

question by Ms. Pierce, Mr. Depew stated it would be an 8 foot wide hard surface. 

 

Mr. Noble stated there was an existing structure that crosses that canal that is used as maintenance for the 

power lines.  He noted it could accommodate foot traffic.  Mr. Noble pointed out that this path is already 

approved on the Lee County Long Range Plan.  It is a named path that will ultimately connect Lee 

County with Hendry County.  This relates to Map 22 of the Lee Plan. 

 

Mr. Depew continued with his presentation. 

 

Due to a question by Mr. Daltry, Mr. Depew stated it was true that they were seeking more lots because 

they ran out of lots before running out of space. 

 

Mr. Green asked for clarity that this Comprehensive Plan Amendment had a total density of 3,600 units in 

River Hall. 

 

Mr. Noble stated that the Comprehensive Plan Amendment would allow up to two (2) units per acre, 

which is more or less 3,600 units in River Hall.  He also noted that the Florida Statutes have been 

amended in which companion zoning cases can be taken into account in the review of the case because it 

is concurrent.  He referred to comments during Mr. Depew’s presentation where he mentioned half units 

an acre.  This is what the zoning would allow that is traveling with this request. 

 

Mr. Daltry referred to Mr. Noble’s comment that the Local Planning Agency may take into account the 

zoning case since it is running concurrent with this Comprehensive Plan Amendment.  He asked if the 

zoning information was included as part of the meeting packet for today’s meeting. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 6 of 12 

Mr. Noble stated the zoning information was provided in the applicant’s submittal and in the staff report 

as to the density that is being requested. 

 

Mr. Daltry stated that a lot of issues being expressed today are in the design and the densities per specific 

spots, so it would easier for the Local Planning Agency members in the future to receive an electronic file 

of the zoning case.  He recommended this for future cases that involve both a Comprehensive Plan 

Amendment and a concurrent Zoning case. 

 

Mr. Depew continued his presentation. 

 

Mr. Brodkin asked about the trail that runs from the River Hall property over to Buckingham Road.  He 

asked if it was currently in existence. 

 

Mr. Depew stated it is part of the FP&L power line easement.  He noted they were working with the 

County to get through either the power line easement or connect up with one of the public streets that 

goes through one of those subdivisions.  He showed them on the PowerPoint slide and continued with his 

presentation. 

 

Mr. Andress asked if the Lee County plant currently had the capacity to take on 1,000 additional units. 

 

Mr. Depew stated the plant could accommodate the additional units and noted they had included in the 

packet the Letters of Availability. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked what the average size of the lots were for the ones that were platted. 

 

Mr. Miars stated that the lots in the Cascades start at 47 feet, which is in the active adult community.  The 

lots in Hampton Lakes start at 50 feet wide and in River Hall Country Club they start at 55 feet wide.  He 

noted that nothing in the new proposal changes any of that. 

 

Ms. Pierce asked how the clustering would take place if the lot size is not changing from what existed.  

 

Mr. Depew stated the clustering would take place by not spreading 94 units over 387 acres. 

 

At this point, Mr. Steve Leung from David Plummer and Associates (Transportation Consultant) handled 

the traffic portion of the presentation. 

 

Mr. Brodkin referred to a comment by Mr. Leung that the road would fail without or without this 

amendment for 1,000 additional units.  He asked if the developer would be required to pay some 

proportionate share to that road improvement since they will be adding a certain amount of traffic onto 

that road. 

 

Mr. Leung stated they would be required to pay some proportionate share and that this would be handled 

as part of the Zoning application. 

 

Mr. Daltry referred to comments by Mr. Leung regarding the MPO Long Range Financially Feasible Plan 

and the fact that the intent is that the Financially Feasible Plan forecast is the basis for the analysis.  He 

asked if the Long Range Financially Feasible Plan included impact fees for Lee County. 

 

Mr. Depew stated it did include impact fees. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 7 of 12 

Mr. Daltry asked what the conclusion would be if there were no impact fees for Lee County. 

 

Mr. Depew stated the same improvements are needed regardless. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if State Road 31 and Buckingham Road were considered as a “Constrained Facility” per 

Lee County Policy 37.2.2. 

 

Mr. Depew stated it could be considered as a “Constrained Facility.”   As the MPO and the County 

prioritizes as to what improvements to make, that will be one of the considerations that they would look at 

as a need.  They will also look at the timing and what would be best for the local planning area. 

 

Mr. Daltry noted there was a current list of Constrained Facilities and he asked if either of these roads was 

on that list. 

 

Mr. Getch believed Mr. Daltry was referring to Table 2A of the Comprehensive Plan, which is a list of 

Constrained Roads.  He noted that neither road is currently on that list. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if the expectation was that the roads will be widened when the traffic increases. 

 

Mr. Getch stated both of those roads can be widened. 

 

Mr. Daltry felt that even though Buckingham Road will fail with or without this amendment, the addition 

of 1,000 units would increase the timing of failure. 

 

Mr. Depew stated that could potentially be correct. However, he noted the applicant of this project is an 

active participant to fulfill the County’s plans.  He referred to an earlier comment as to why these road 

improvements were not reviewed in 2005.  Although he cannot answer that question, there will be 

additional impact fees available due to the 1,000 additional units.  This could mean approximately six to 

eight million additional dollars that can be put towards these intersection improvements that have 

probably been needed for the last 10 years. 

 

Ms. Pierce asked Mr. Getch about the percentage of the Cost Feasibility Plan that is currently not funded.  

Her recollection was that well over 50% of it had no funding. 

 

Mr. Getch explained that the MPO’s Long Range Transportation Plan has two components.  There is an 

overall “Needs” Plan.  Within the Needs Plan, based on revenues, what we can afford is evaluated.  The 

highway deficiencies and the Needs Plan are approximately 2.9 billion.  The overall projects funded in the 

Feasibility Plan are approximately 1 billion, so it is true that the majority of the needs are not in the 

Feasibility Plan. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if there was an estimated traffic count of the southern entrance of buildout or any time 

before. 

 

Mr. Depew stated there was no traffic count because there is no access.  However, as part of the 

assessment, they did allocate some traffic to that end.  They tried to establish the worst case conditions, 

which is to lower 90% of the traffic of Estero 80.  The number there is less than 50 vehicles. 

 

At this point, Mr. Schropp briefly summarized and concluded the presentation.  He submitted a hard copy 

of the PowerPoint as a point of record to the Clerk. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 8 of 12 

Mr. Strelow discussed the term “Overriding Public Necessity” and noted that in 2009 the Board of County 

Commissioners approved a text amendment to the Comprehensive Plan prohibiting future amendments 

that would increase density in this specific area without a finding of overriding public necessity.  He noted 

that although their proposal mentions public benefits such as open space, trails, and other activities to 

counter balance the population growth for the area, he questioned whether their attempt to define “public 

necessity” was to simply point out some of the public benefits,  To him, this would not qualify for what 

the Commission had intended.  Although there is no precise definition of “overriding public necessity,” in 

general, it is usually defined by courts across the country as meaning “there is no reasonable alternative to 

meet a public demand” not just a public interest or a public benefit.  As far as necessity, he did not feel it 

would be critical to the County or the area for 1,000 additional units to be placed in this particular 

location.  He asked why they feel that some public benefits meet the definition of “overriding public 

necessity.” 

 

Mr. Schropp stated that since there is no definition for “overriding public necessity,” they met with staff 

on what this might mean in the context of the present request for a plan amendment.  Without a definition 

to rely on, they centered the discussion on the goals, objectives, and policy directives of the 

Caloosahatchee Shores Plan and the Lee Plan in general that could be facilitated and achieved by this 

project.  The only other alternative interpretation or definition is that there has to be some overriding 

public necessity for the additional density to be provided in the Lee Plan or Caloosahatchee Shores area.  

Both the applicant and Planning staff discounted the alternate interpretation because the plan not only 

needs to discourage development when it is not feasible but it needs to be used to facilitate achievement 

of goals, objectives, and policies that are contained within the Plan.  When it comes to population growth, 

he felt it was better to have it accommodated in a project where the development footprint is already 

established and has infrastructure in place as opposed to place it in other areas within East Lee County 

that does not have the public infrastructure. 

 

Mr. Strelow stated there are many areas in the County that are zoned for Urban or Suburban, unlike this 

proposed location.  He felt the whole point of a Comprehensive Plan is to channel residential development 

into those areas and noted we have plenty of those areas left.  To him, the word “necessity” would mean 

that we should not disperse or scatter development unless we have no other way to accommodate the 

development.  Since we do have Urban areas that have many gaps in them as well as untapped Suburban 

areas, he felt there was an absence of necessity here. 

 

Mr. Schropp stated that although he appreciated the comment and opinion, this was not the interpretation 

they wanted to encourage. 

 

Mr. Brodkin referred to Page 14 of the staff report where it states there is no need for the additional 

dwelling units being requested.  He noted it also points out all of the areas that are undeveloped at this 

time and parts of the county that can accommodate population growth without this change.  In addition, 

“overriding public necessity” was placed in the plan because of two applications being brought forward in 

the past for increased density.  The community was not supportive of it.  He felt everyone should know 

what “overriding public necessity” means because it was put in the Plan to prevent this type of request. 

 

Mr. Schropp disagreed with those statements. 

 

Mr. Andress asked if any meetings were held with the HOA of the existing residents.  If they were held, 

he asked what kind of input was received. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 9 of 12 

Mr. Schropp indicated that meetings were held.  Some of the input was favorable and some were opposed.  

He noted from the developer’s perspective this represents the best opportunity for the project to recover 

and to move forward in an economically sufficient manner not only to allow the recovery of the existing 

residences but to also move forward. 

 

Ms. Pierce stated she read the minutes to the community meetings, but there was no indication of how 

many residents attended.  The minutes were brief, so they did not outline what took place in those 

meetings or what kind of percentage of the current homeowners attended. 

 

Mr. Miars stated the first meeting was held in September.  There was subsequently a meeting in January.  

Approximately 100 people attended, so the meetings were well attended.  As far as the input received, he 

noted they received a variety of opinions. 

 

The Local Planning Agency took a break before allowing public comment at 9:50 a.m. and reconvened at 

10:00 a.m. 

 

At this point, the Chair opened this item for public comment.  The following parties spoke in opposition 

to this project and the letters provided to the Clerk by the public during the public comment portion are 

attached:  Jill Seal (representing Skip Seal), Sheila Thornberry (speaking on behalf of Michelle Holcolm, 

Joern Erdmarn, Peter Manhoff), Roger Thornberry, Joseph Lundquist, Sandra Migliore (representing 

herself and her husband, Tom), Georgette Lundquist (representing herself and Don Frank), Raymond 

Seals, Karen Asfour, Rosalie Prestarri, Janet Tripp, Jim Giedeman, Steve Shattler (Florida Fish and 

Wildlife), Annisa Karin (Parks and Recreation), Connie Dennis, Ruby Daniels, Edward Kimball, and 

Julianne Thomas (Conservancy of SW FL). 

 

Mr. Shattler from Florida Fish and Wildlife expressed that his group was not in favor of access to Hickey 

Creek Mitigation Park.  The trail and specifically the connection into Hickey Creek would not be 

something they will be supportive of. 

 

Ms. Karin from Parks and Recreation read a letter for the record expressing Parks and Recreations 

concerns with this project.  Those concerns were mainly dealing with the trail and access to the Mitigation 

Park, maintenance, and security issues. 

 

Mr. Green asked why Parks and Recreation’s comments were not part of the staff report. 

 

Mr. Noble stated he had conversations with Jason Lamey and Cathy Olson, but the issues discussed by 

Ms. Karin had not come up.  He noted the County had been planning a Greenways Trail in this location 

for six years.  He did not agree with comments that a Trailhead Park is a Neighborhood Park stating that if 

this were true we would not have any Trailhead Parks such as the one under construction in Lehigh.  He 

stated that if we are going to support a Walking Trail/Greenways Program, we are going to need Trailhead 

Parks.  Those types of facilities are needed to get people to the trails, allow people to go to the restroom, 

park their vehicles, and take their bikes off their car.  He further stated that the maintenance would not be 

subject to Lee County.  It would be part of the maintenance of the subdivision through the CDD.  

Additional construction funds could be sought through our regular MPO programming.  One of the 

typical limitations in those processes is not having the actual property in hand to put in the Trailhead Park 

and not having the right-of-way.  In this case, the developer has the land.  The application shows that they 

have a license with FP&L to use the easement area.  Although he understood comments from the public, 

he noted that the trail was never proposed by the applicant to go all the way to Buckingham Road.  It is 

almost four miles of a planned trailhead that is currently in the Lee Plan. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 10 of 12 

Ms. Karin wanted to clarify that Parks and Recreation staff understands that currently the multimodal trail 

is not planned to enter Hickeys Creek, but noted there have been numerous references that this could be a 

possibility in the future.  Currently, they have high security issues on the western boundary especially at 

the FP&L easement.  There is an unsafe crossing across the East County Water Control District 

conveyance.  For these reasons, Parks and Recreation wanted their comments submitted for the record. 

 

Further public comment was received from Connie Dennis, Ruby Daniels, Edward Kimball, Julianne 

Thomas (Conservancy of SW FL). 

 

No members of the public spoke in favor of the project. 

 

Mr. Hutchcraft left the meeting at this juncture at 12:00 noon. 

 

Mr. Green asked if the applicant wished to respond. 

 

Mr. Schropp referred to statements by Florida Fish and Wildlife and Parks and Recreation and noted that 

the trail will be constructed to the extent it is desired by Lee County.  If it is not desired that the trail get to 

the end of the property into Hickeys Creek Mitigation Park, then the Developer will certainly work with 

the County on where the trail should begin and end.  To him, it seemed as if the trail would be an asset for 

a number of reasons and moves in the direction of fulfilling the County’s objectives in the Lee Plan. 

 

Mr. Daltry asked if there was a credit against Park Impact Fees. 

 

Mr. Schropp stated that no impact fee credits are provided for as part of the Draft Development 

Agreement, nor were they seeking any. 

 

Mr. Green stated that as a realtor, he had some information that might be helpful.  The Verandah is doing 

very well.  In addition to their home sales, they have had over 50 re-sales in the last six months.  River 

Hall has only had about 5.  The Verandah has gone through many transitions and was previously owned 

by Bonita Bay.  They have been bought out by Kolter who have done a great job with the project by 

putting in a second coat of black top on the roads, putting in a new sales center with new models out in 

front, installed a new Olympic pool, as well as other things and their sales are an indication of this.  In 

general, he noted that real estate in east Lee County is doing well.  Alva prices and sales are increasing.  

The Verandah’s sales are increasing.  The Cascades is doing modestly well.  He struggled with the 

economic viability of this project and did not understand why the current owner could not do what 

everyone else in the neighborhood is doing.  As far as he is concerned, the economic viability issue 

should be off the table. 

 

Due to a question by Mr. Daltry, Ms. Collins stated the Local Planning Agency’s motion will be to either 

recommend transmittal or non-transmittal to the Board of County Commissioners.  The Local Planning 

Agency may add some commentary to go along with their recommendation if they so choose. 

 

Mr. Brodkin stated he found staff’s recommendations very disappointing in their interpretation of 

“overriding public necessity.”  It seemed to set an extremely low bar making the term almost meaningless.  

To him, staff’s recommendation showed a disregard for the residents of River Hall and the 

Caloosahatchee Shores Community Plan, all community planning, and the whole EAR process that is 

taking place as part of the 2035 Plan, which is for the purposes of protecting Rural lands and to 

distinguish them. 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 11 of 12 

Mr. Andress stated this subdivision could be successful if marketed properly.  He felt the developer knew 

what they were buying when they purchased this property.  He did not agree with staff disregarding all of 

the community plans in the County for the benefit of a developer.  He made a motion that the Local 

Planning Agency recommend that CPA2012-00001 River Hall Amendment not be transmitted, 

seconded by Mr. Strelow. 

 

Ms. Pierce stated she wanted the Local Planning Agency’s discussion, reasoning, and vote to be sent to 

the Board of County Commissioners.  She did not feel this project should have been brought forward to 

begin with as it is a project that is simply for the benefit of an individual private organization that 

somehow feels the public owes them or guarantees them a profit or an even greater profit.  She noted that 

the Constitution did something that was never done before which was to guarantee the assembly of rights 

of citizens to come together as a body politic to make a set of laws, rules, and regulations by which they 

would govern themselves and their communities.  To her, this project undermines the basic concept and 

principal of the democratic process. 

 

Mr. Andress stated he would like to see Ms. Pierce’s comments written out so that the Board of County 

Commissioners will understand the reason behind the Local Planning Agency’s vote. 

 

Mr. Brodkin felt the motion should be amended to add:  1) The Local Planning Agency finds there 

is no “overriding public necessity” for the land use change; and 2) the proposed amendment 

substantially alters the character of the Rural subdivision. 

 

The motioner and seconder agreed to the amendment. 

 

Mr. Daltry referred to his earlier questions on how big the lots were.  Due to the size of the lots (11,000-

12,000 square feet), he noted that every lot uses up an acre.  The developer already platted those lots.  

You cannot double count the wetlands in a planning application if you already allocated density based on 

each lot that was platted.  By platting small lots, it means more open space and that it can be sold as an 

open space project.  It will be 1,000 more units of traffic artificially constrained to a terrible transportation 

network.  He felt they “drank the milkshake already” since the lots have already been platted. 

 

Mr. Strelow stated there had been a reference made today to a State Statute definition for “Overriding 

Public Necessity” that he felt should be included to demonstrate that it is a very high bar and that the 

proposed project does not meet this definition. 

 

Mr. Green stated the staff recommendation for today’s case was inconsistent with their great work over 

the past five years, the work being done as part of the EAR process, the current Comprehensive Plan, and 

their well done staff report.  He cautioned that if staff does not stand up for what they believe in, the need 

for them will be diminished. 

 

The motion was called and passed 6-0.  Mr. Hutchcraft was absent for this vote. 

 

Agenda Item 3 – Approval of 5-20-13, 6-24-13, and 7-22-13 Meeting Minutes 
 

Mr. Daltry made a motion to approve the May 20, 2013, June 24, 2013, and July 22, 2013 Local 

Planning Agency meeting minutes, seconded by Mr. Strelow.  The motion was called and passed 6-

0. 

 



Local Planning Agency 

August 26, 2013  Page 12 of 12 

Agenda Item 6 – Other Business 

 

 New Chief Hearing Examiner Post 

 

Mr. Andress thanked Ms. Collins for all her work on the Local Planning Agency over the years.  He 

congratulated her on her new post as Chief Hearing Examiner and wished her the best as did the other 

members. 

 

Mr. Daltry made a motion that a Resolution of Appreciation be prepared, seconded by Mr. 

Andress.  The motion was called and passed 6-0. 

 

Agenda Item 7 – Adjournment 

 

Mr. O’Connor noted staff would be taking a poll of the members for the November and December Local 

Planning Agency meetings.  Because of the Thanksgivings Day and Christmas holidays, staff would like 

to combine the two meetings and meet in early December as opposed to November 25
th

 and December 

23
rd

.   Due to the EAR elements and other amendments, staff anticipated the need for an all day session. 

 

The next Local Planning Agency meeting is scheduled for Monday, September 23, 2013, at 8:30 a.m. in 

the Board Chambers, Old Lee County Courthouse, 2120 Main Street, Fort Myers, FL 33901. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 12:40 p.m. 
























































































































































































































